2005

Kathryn Collard, Trustee of the LeRoy Collard Trust v. Nagle Construction, Inc., a Utah corporation; Gary M. Nagle, an individual and Marilyn F. Nagle, an individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-2a-3 and Article 8, § I of the Utah Constitution. This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entered on August 15, 2005. Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on August 18, 2005. This case was ordered transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals on August 22, 2005. This Court vacated the transfer order on September 29, 2005.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

- I. **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING THE TRUST A DECREE FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE AFTER DETERMINING THAT THE TRUST HAD NOT FULLY PERFORMED UNDER THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES.**
  - A. **Specific Performance is an Equitable Remedy Which Requires That The Party Seeking It Must First Tender Full Performance of Its Own Contractual Obligations.**

- B. The Measure of Performance in This Case Was Whether The Shares of Stock Tendered by The Trust Pursuant to The Real Estate Purchase Contract Ever Reached a Value During The Time Period September 18, 1979 Through September 18, 1980 Such That Nagle Could Realize \$85,000.**
- C. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Granting The Trust Specific Performance Because It Determined That The Shares Never Reached a Value Where Nagle Could Realize \$85,000 and Because The Court Imposed Duties on Nagle Which Were Contrary to Nagle's Rights Under The Real Estate Purchase Contract.**

**Standard of Review:** In an equity action, the Appeals Court reviews the Trial Court's legal conclusions under a correction of error standard according those conclusions no particular deference. Englert v. Zane, 848 P.2d 165, 168 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Utah 1991)). The Appeals Court reviews the granting of a decree for specific performance for abuse of discretion. Morris v. Sykes, 624 P.2d 681, 684 (Utah 1981).

**Preservation of Issue For Review:** Entitlement to a decree of specific performance identified by Appeals Court as issue on remand. See Addendum, Ex. B at ¶¶ 26-27, R. 2427-28; raised by Nagle in his Memorandum in Support of his Motion in Limine, R. 1300; raised in Nagle's Pretrial Order, R. 2408; raised at trial, R. 2618 at 37-38, 41, R. 2619 at 371-75, 385; rejected by Trial Court in Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005. See Addendum Ex. C at p. 24, R. 2502; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds For Review of Any Issues Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in ruling that the Trust was entitled to a decree of specific performance having also determined that the Trust did not fully perform its obligations under the Real Estate Purchase Contract. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this case is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

- II. ASSUMING THAT NAGLE IS ENTITLED ONLY TO A MONETARY REMEDY, THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY CALCULATING AN OFFSET BASED UPON WHAT NAGLE COULD HAVE SOLD THE SHARES OF STOCK FOR BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 18, 1979 AND SEPTEMBER 18, 1980 BECAUSE THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT EXPRESSLY CONTEMPLATED THAT NAGLE WOULD NOT BE REQUIRED TO SELL THE SHARES UNTIL THEY REACHED A VALUE WHERE THEY COULD REALIZE \$85,000 AND THAT NEVER HAPPENED.**
- A. The Court Determined That an Offset Should be Calculated Based on What The Trust Owed Nagle (\$85,000) Minus What Nagle Could Have Sold The Stock For During The Time Period in Question.**
  - B. The Terms of The Real Estate Purchase Contract Between The Parties, Specifically Addendum No. 2, Expressly State That Nagle Was Not Required to Sell Shares Until They Reached a Value During The Time Period September 18, 1979 through September 18, 1980 Whereby Nagle Could Realize \$85,000.**
  - C. The Correct Offset Amount Should be at Least The Unpaid Purchase Price Plus Interest.**



**Standard of Review:** In an equity action, the Appeals Court reviews the Trial Court's legal conclusions under a correction of error standard according those conclusions no particular deference. Englert v. Zane, 848 P.2d 165, 168 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Utah 1991)). The Trial Court's fashioning of an equitable remedy is reviewed for abuse of discretion. United States Fuel Co. v. HCIC, 79 P.3d 945, 948 (Utah 2003).

**Preservation of Issue For Review:** Raised at trial R. 2618 at 45, R. 2619 at 371-74; rejected by Trial Court in Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005. See Addendum, Ex. C at p. 25, R. 2503; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds For Review of Any Issues Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in ruling that the appropriate calculation of an offset should be measured by the amount due and owing Nagle minus what Nagle could have sold shares for during the time period at issue even though the contract between the parties did not require Nagle to sell the shares until they reached a value whereby Nagle could realize \$85,000. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this issue is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

**III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE TRUST HAD CONVEYED 105,000 SHARES OF STOCK TO NAGLE AS PART OF THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT.**

- A. The Trial Court's Ruling is Contrary to The Law of The Case. The Appeals Court Had Already Determined That The Trust Only Conveyed 55,000 Shares As Part of The Transaction.**
- B. The Trial Court's Ruling Barred is by The Statute of Frauds Because it is Predicated on a Finding That the Parties Orally Modified Their Contract to Sell Real Property.**
- C. The Trial Court's Ruling is Against The Weight of The Evidence And is Clearly Erroneous.**
- D. The Trust is Bound by Its Numerous Judicial Admissions That Only 55,000 Shares Were Conveyed Under The Real Estate Purchase Contract.**

**Standard of Review:** In an equity action, the Trial Court's legal conclusions are reviewable under a correction of error standard according those conclusions no particular deference. Englert v. Zane, 848 P.2d 165, 168 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Utah 1991)). The Trial Court's findings of fact in cases of equity are reviewed for clear error. Parduhn v. Bennett, 112 P.3d 495, 502 (Utah 2005).

**Preservation of Issue For Review:** Raised in Nagle's Objection to the Trust's Rule 26(a)(4) Disclosures, R. 2104; raised in Nagle's Motion to Strike the Trust's Pretrial Order, R. 2378-79; raised by Nagle in his Pretrial Order, R. 2406 - 2408; objection raised at trial and overruled, R. 2618 at 981; R. 2619 at 375; rejected by Trial Court in Memorandum

and Order of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at pp. 14-15, R. 2491-92; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds For Review of Any Issues Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in ruling that the Trust conveyed 105,000 shares of stock to Nagle as part of the Real Estate Purchase Contract between the parties. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this issue is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT THE TRUST BEHAVED EQUITABLY WHEN IT CONVEYED THE PROPERTY AT ISSUE TO AN INSIDER OF THE TRUST DURING THE PENDENCY OF THE FIRST APPEAL WHO PAID BELOW FAIR MARKET VALUE AND TOOK TITLE WITH FULL KNOWLEDGE THAT NAGLE HAD PLACED A LIS PENDENS ON THE PROPERTY.**

**Standard of Review:** In an equity action, the Appeals Court reviews the Trial Court's legal conclusions under a correction of error standard according those conclusions no particular deference. Englert v. Zane, 848 P.2d 165, 168 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Utah 1991)). The Trial Court's findings of fact in cases of equity are reviewed for clear error. Parduhn v. Bennett, 112 P.3d 495, 502 (Utah 2005). The Trial Court's application of equitable principles is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. at 506.



**Preservation of Issue For Review:** Raised at trial R. 2619 at 324-328; rejected by Trial Court in Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at p. 16, R. 2494; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds For Review of Any Issues Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in ruling that the Trust behaved equitably when it conveyed title to the property to an insider of the Trust during the pendency of the first appeal when the insider paid below fair market value for the property and took title with knowledge of the lis pendens Nagle placed on the property. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this issue is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

**V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING NAGLE PREJUDGMENT INTEREST BECAUSE THE AMOUNT OWED (\$85,000) WAS A FIXED AMOUNT DUE AND OWING AT THE TIME THE TRUST FAILED TO PERFORM ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND INTEREST CAN BE CALCULATED WITH MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY.**

- A. The Trial Court Determined That The Trust Had Failed to Perform Its Obligations Under The Real Estate Purchase Contract in That The Stock Conveyed as Part of The Purchase Price Did Not Reach a Value at Any Time During September 18, 1979 Through September 18, 1980 Where Its Sale Could Realize \$85,000.**
- B. Following September 18, 1980, The Trust Was in Default of The Agreement And Was Subsequently Notified by Nagle of The Default.**



**C. Upon Default, Nagle Was Owed a Fixed Amount of \$85,000 Which is a Fixed Sum. The Default Was Never Cured. Interest Can be Calculated With Mathematical Accuracy.**

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's decision to grant or deny a prejudgment interest presents a question of law reviewed for correctness. Lyon v. Burton, 5 P.3d 616, 636 (Utah 2000).

**Preservation of Issue For Review:** Issue of prejudgment interest raised by Nagle in Pretrial Order, R. 2408; raised by Nagle at trial R. 2618 at 45; R. 2619 at 385; denied by Trial Court in Memorandum and Order Of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at p. 30, R. 2508; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds for Review of Any Issue Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in ruling that Nagle was not entitled to prejudgment interest after ruling that the Trust had failed to perform its obligations and Nagle was owed \$85,000 under the express terms of the Real Estate Purchase Contract. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this issue is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

**VI. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING NAGLE ATTORNEY'S FEES AS PREVAILING PARTY.**

**Standard of Review:** Review of the Trial Court's determination as to who was the prevailing party is conducted under an abuse of discretion standard. R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook<sup>h</sup>, 40 P.3d 1119, 1127 (Utah 2002).

**Preservation of Issue for Review:** Identified for issue on remand, Addendum, Ex. B at ¶ 29, R. 2429. Raised at trial, R. 2618 at 45; 2619 at 385-86; rejected by Trial Court in Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at p. 32, R. 2510; Notice of Appeal, R. 2605-07.

**Grounds For Review of Any Issues Not Preserved:** The Trial Court committed plain error in not awarding attorneys fees to Nagle as prevailing party. The error should have been obvious to the Trial Court and the error is harmful to Nagle. Therefore, Appellate Court review of this issue is appropriate. State Ex. Rel. T.M., 73 P.3d 959, 963 (Utah App. 2003).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of The Case**

This is an action to determine whether the Trust performed its obligations under a Real Estate Purchase Contract with Nagle so that the Trust would be entitled to a decree for specific performance to obtain title to a condominium unit that Nagle built and owned. Under the terms of the contract, the Trust was required to pay Nagle \$10,000 down, assume a mortgage on the property and pay an additional \$85,000. Nagle agreed to accept 55,000 shares of stock in lieu of the \$85,000 provided that during the time period of September 18, 1979 through September 18, 1980 the shares reached a value where Nagle could realize \$85,000 from their sale. If the shares did not reach that value, the Trust was to pay \$85,000 in cash or more shares before receiving title to the property.

The Trust paid the \$10,000 down; it did not assume the mortgage although it did pay the mortgage amounts through payoff; the 55,000 shares never reached a value where they could realize \$85,000 during the appointed time. The Trust never paid Nagle \$85,000 nor tendered more shares. Because Nagle never received shares or cash valued at \$85,000, he never conveyed title to the property to the Trust.

### **Course of Proceedings**

The Trust filed a Complaint on July 28, 1999, alleging breach of contract, adverse possession and declaratory judgment to quiet title, among other claims. Nagle filed an Answer and Counterclaim. The parties ultimately filed cross-motions for summary judgment. On November 6, 2000, the Trial Court granted the Trust's request for quiet title relief and ordered Nagle to convey title to the Trust upon final payment of the mortgage. Nagle appealed this judgment but was unable to stay enforcement. Title was subsequently conveyed to the Trust.

In a ruling dated September 26, 2002, as amended on November 12, 2002, the Utah Court of Appeals vacated the Trial Court's November 6, 2000 Order in its entirety and remanded the case back to the Trial Court to determine whether the Trust had actually performed under the contract. Specifically, the Appeals Court held:

If, on remand, the fact finder determines that the 55,000 shares were worth at least \$85,000 at some point in time between September 18, 1979 and September 18, 1980, and that [Nagle] was obligated to sell the shares at that time, then [the Trust] has



performed [its] obligations and [Nagle] is not entitled to further relief. However, if the fact finder determines that the shares did not reach a value of \$85,000 within the appointed period, [Nagle] is entitled to offset the amount of the shortfall [the Trust] was obligated to pay in cash or additional shares against the value of the property.

The Appeals Court subsequently amended its opinion to allow Nagle to seek title to the property as a remedy for the Trust's default. Addendum, Ex. B at ¶ 26, R. 2418, R. 2428.

### **Disposition in The Lower Court**

The Trial Court conducted a bench trial on June 7 and 8, 2005. The Trial Court issued a Memorandum and Order on June 10, 2005 granting the Trust a decree of specific performance, despite finding that the shares of stock never reached a value of \$85,000 during the specified time period. The Trial Court also fashioned an offset remedy awarding Nagle \$32,550 representing the difference between the \$85,000 owed by the Trust and what the Trial Court concluded Nagle could have earned had he attempted to sell the shares during the time in question.

The Trial Court entered a final judgment on August 15, 2005. This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On March 30, 1978, the Trust entered into an agreement with Nagle to purchase a condominium unit. Using a Uniform Real Estate Contract, the Trust agreed to pay \$100,500 for the condominium by (1) making a down payment of \$10,000; (2) assuming a mortgage loan owed by Nagle to First Security Bank in the amount of \$59,958.75; and (3)

tendering 55,000 shares of the Utah Coal & Chemical Company for the balance of the purchase price. See Real Estate Purchase Contract, Addendum, Ex. A, R. 2414-17; see also Appeals Court Opinion, Addendum, Ex. B at ¶ 2, R. 2420. In return, Nagle agreed to convey title to the condominium when the Trust verified that the value of the stock was sufficient to cover the unpaid balance of the purchase price. R. 2413; R. 2420.

2. The Trust paid the \$10,000 down and began making payments on the mortgage. However, the Trust never assumed the mortgage. R. 2421. Nagle informed the Trust that he considered the Trust's failure to assume the mortgage a breach of contract and advised the Trust that default and foreclosure proceedings could be instituted. In lieu of foreclosure proceedings, the Trust and Nagle added a Second Addendum to the contract on September 18, 1979. In Addendum No. 2, the Trust agreed to pay approximately \$50,000 more for the condominium in exchange for Nagle's forbearance. Addendum 2 reads as follows:

Title of premises being sold under the contract referred to above will be transferred when [Nagle] sells sufficient of the shares of Utah Coal & Chemical Corp. transferred under [the contract] to realize \$85,000 cash. [Nagle] hereby agrees to sell shares sufficient to realize \$85,000 within one year of receipt thereof providing the market value of said shares will cause a realization of \$85,000.

Should the value of the 55,000 shares conveyed not equal \$85,000 within one year [the Trust] agrees to convey additional shares of Utah Coal & Chemical Corp. stock or cash sufficient to bring the total value conveyed to [Nagle] to \$85,000 before [Nagle] conveys title to premises sold to [the Trust].

R. 2421. The shares of stock did not reach a value such that Nagle could have realized \$85,000 from their sale. Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at p. 21, R. 2499.

3. On January 13, 1981, Nagle, through his attorney, sent the Trust a letter informing the Trust that the shares of stock did not reach the required value of \$85,000 within one year and that the Trust had not yet paid the difference. Nagle went on to inform the Trust that he would consider the Trust in default if the Trust did not pay the amount still owed on the contract by January 25, 1981. The Trust did not make any further payments to Nagle. R. 2422; Trial Ex. 105, Addendum, Ex. D, R. 2430-31.

4. The Real Estate Purchase Contract provides that in the event of default:

[Nagle] shall have the right, upon failure of the [Trust] to remedy the default within five days after written notice, to be released from all obligations in law and in equity to convey said property, all payments which have been made theretofore on this contract by the [Trust], shall be forfeited to [Nagle] as liquidated damages for the non-performance of the contract, **and the [Trust] agrees that [Nagle] may at his option re-enter and take possession of said premises without legal processes as in its first and former estate, together with all improvements and additions made by the [Trust] thereon, and the said additions and improvements shall remain with the land become [sic] the property of [Nagle], the [Trust] becoming at once a tenant at will of [Nagle].**

Real Estate Purchase Contract at ¶ 16, Addendum, Ex. A, R. 2415 (emphasis added).

5. On July 28, 1999, the Trust brought suit against Nagle, seeking a declaratory judgment to quiet title based on breach of contract and adverse possession. Nagle answered and counterclaimed for remedies under the contract, including forfeiture and foreclosure. Nagle also sought a declaratory judgment quieting title in him. Both parties filed motions for summary judgment. R. 2422.

6. On November 6, 2000, the Trial Court granted the Trust's motion for quiet title relief. The Court stayed that judgment pending Nagle posting bond. When Nagle was unable to post bond, the Trial Court vacated the stay and title to the property was conveyed to the Trust. R. 521-531; R. 621-626.

7. On November 7, 2000, Nagle filed a Notice of Appeal, appealing the entirety of the Trial Court's judgment. R. 535. On November 21, 2000, Nagle placed a lis pendens on the property. Memorandum and Order of June 10, 2005, Addendum, Ex. C at p. 6, R. 2484; Trial Ex. 18.

8. On January 18, 2001, the Trust conveyed the property to K.N.B. Holdings, LLC ("KNB"). KNB is an affiliate of the Trust. Specifically, KNB's principal Kirk Blosch is married to a beneficiary of the Trust and is a brother-in-law of the trustee. KNB paid less than fair market value and took title to the property with full knowledge of the lis pendens. R. 2619 at p. 331, 333-34.

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