2005

Kathryn Collard, Trustee of the LeRoy Collard Trust v. Nagle Construction, Inc., a Utah corporation; Gary M. Nagle, an individual and Marilyn F. Nagle, and individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Similarly, Nagles' argument that he is entitled to recoup the property "because that was the status of the parties until the Trial Court's November, 2000 Order", which Nagles assert was "vacated in its entirety by the Appeals Court", Aplnt. Br. 23- 24, is also improperly briefed in that it is unsupported by any argument or citation to the record as required pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(9).

Because the foregoing arguments are inadequately briefed, the Court should decline review. State ex rel C.Y. v. Yates, 834 P.2d 599, 602 (Utah App. 1992) (Court declined to consider argument that was not adequately briefed).

Nagles do not challenge the trial court's factual findings that the Trust consistently occupied the property, and paid off Nagles' mortgage. Instead, Nagles contend the trial court abused its discretion in relying on such findings in awarding the Trust specific performance because, in Nagles' view, such findings ignore Nagles' purported right to treat Collard as a tenant at will following his purported breach of Addendum 2. (Aplnt. Br. 27-29) This argument is frivolous because in making an equitable determination, a trial court is entitled to balance "the relative significance of facts and applicable law to achieve a fair and equitable relief." Parduhn, supra, at ¶23. Facts regarding a buyer's performance under a contract to purchase property, are relevant and routinely considered by a trial court sitting in equity, in determining whether a buyer is entitled to an equitable award of specific performance.

Although Nagles argue that the trial court's award of specific performance to the Trust unlawfully deprives them of a contractual right to retake the property and treat Collard as a tenant at will for a breach of the contract (Aplnt. Br. 27-29), the Court of Appeals agreed that Nagles' rights and legal remedies under the contract were barred by the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals determined that Collard should not be awarded specific performance on summary judgment due to a factual issue as to the value of the stock conveyed to Nagle, and held that if it did not achieve \$85,000, Nagles would only be entitled to an "offset in the amount of the shortfall," not that Nagles would be entitled to assert their legal rights against Collard under the contract. (Collard v. Nagle, ¶¶22,27, Aplnt. Br. Add. B, R. 2426-2428)

Additionally, Nagles' argument is contrary to the trial court's factual finding that Nagles failed to provide Collard with sufficient notice to invoke Nagles' rights under the contract in the event of a breach by Collard. (Findings of Fact, ¶8, MD, Aplnt. Br. Add. C, R. 4293) Nagles fail to challenge this factual finding by marshaling the evidence to support it. Thus, the Court should assume this finding is correct and reject Nagles' argument that the court's award of specific performance to the Trust violates Nagles' rights under the parties' contract.

E. Nagles' Argument That No Evidence Supports The Trial Court's Finding That The Trust Made Improvements To The Property Is Contrary To The Record

Nagles argue that the trial court's finding that Collard and his successors made improvements to the property, is not supported by any evidence "about what improvements were made on the property or what value they had, especially in the years before the Trust filed suit." (Aplnt. Br. 30). This is incorrect. The affidavit of Collard's daughter, Kelly James Kirch, filed as Exhibit H to the Trust's motion for summary judgment, discusses the improvements made to the property prior to the filing of this action. (Kirch Affidavit, ¶¶ 9-11, Add. 5, R. 185-186); See also, Parduhn v. Bennett, 112 P.3d 495, 2005 UT 22, at ¶25 ("If an appellant argues that no evidence supports a factual finding, the burden to marshal does not shift to appellee, rather the appellee may prove that the appellant did not meet [their] marshalling burden by presenting a "scintilla" of evidence supporting the district court's finding.")

Because none of Nagles' arguments demonstrate that the trial court abused its broad discretion in awarding the Trust specific performance and awarding Nagles a cash

offset, the trial court's equitable determination should be affirmed. Parduhn, supra, at ¶25 ("We will affirm a district court's exercise of that discretion unless the district court abused it.")

**POINT III THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
IN CALCULATING THE AMOUNT OF THE EQUITABLE
OFFSET AWARDED TO NAGLES**

A. The Issue Of Whether The Trial Court Properly Calculated Nagles' Offset Is Reviewed For Abuse Of Discretion

The issue of whether a trial court properly fashioned an equitable remedy is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Parduhn v. Bennett, supra, at ¶41; Thurston v. Box Elder County, 892 P.2d 1034, 1041(Utah 1995). A trial court abuses its discretion if there is "no reasonable basis for the decision." Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993).

B. The Trial Court's Equitable Calculation Of Nagles' Offset Does Not Implicate Nagles' Contractual Rights Or Remedies Which Have Been Barred By The Statute Of Limitations

Nagles argue that the trial court abused its discretion in calculating the amount of the \$32,550⁵ offset it ordered the Trust to pay Nagles, "based on what the Trust owed Nagle (\$85,000) and what Nagle could have sold the shares he received for to make up the difference." This argument proceeds on Nagles' prior, unsupported argument that he had no duty to sell the stock under the contract because the stock purportedly never achieved a value of \$85,000 during the relevant period.⁶ (Aplnt. Br. 31-32)

⁵ There is a typographical error in the lower court's Conclusions of Law, MD, ¶4, R. 2503. The figure \$52,500 mistakenly appears as \$52,500,000. The correct amount, \$52,500 is the accurate product of \$.50 per share times 105,000 shares.

This argument is incorrect, because it assumes that the stock never reached a value of \$85,000 during the year following its receipt by Nagles. This assumption is contrary to the trial court's findings of fact and law, not challenged by Nagles on appeal, that whether sale of the 105,000 shares of stock conveyed by Collard to Nagle would have realized \$85,000 during the relevant period, was not "readily ascertainable or calculable", and that "the Court was not satisfied that *either party* proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, the value of the Utah Coal stock within the relevant time." (Finding of Fact ¶12, MD, Aplnt. Br. Add. C, R. 2494-2501, quoted language at 2495, 2499; Conclusions of Law, ¶¶3-4, 11, Id. at R. 2501-2504, 2506-2507) (Emphasis supplied)

Based on the trial court's finding that the value of the stock Collard delivered to Nagles was not readily ascertainable or calculable as a matter of fact or law, (Findings of Fact, ¶12, MD, R. 2494-2501; Conclusions of Law, ¶¶3-4, R. 2501-2504, Aplnt. Br. Add C), the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining the amount of the offset it awarded Nagles, by calculating the difference between what Nagles were owed under the contract ($\$.81 \times 105,000 = \$85,050$), minus the average value of the stock during the relevant period ($\$.50 \times 105,000$), to arrive at the \$32,550 offset awarded Nagles. (Id.)

Additionally, the trial court's findings of fact concerning Collard's substantial performance under the contract, and Nagles' conduct in speculating in the stock, buying additional Utah Coal stock in unrelated transactions, and failing to give Collard sufficient

⁶ Nagles incorrectly cite the trial court's calculation of the amount of the offset as R. 2505. The trial court's findings of fact on this matter are found at Findings of Fact, ¶6, MD, Aplnt. Br. Add. C, R. 2490-2492, Finding of Facts, ¶12, Id. at R. 2494-2501, and Conclusions of Law, ¶4, Id. at R. 2503-2504.

notice of the amount of any deficiency in the value of the stock during the year following its receipt by Nagles, or thereafter (Findings of Fact, ¶¶1-3, 6-12, MD, Aplnt. Br. Add C., at R. 2488-2489; 2490-2501; and Conclusions of Law, ¶1-4, Id. at R. 2501-2504), not properly challenged by Nagles on appeal, are more than sufficient to support the trial court's equitable determination to award the Trust specific performance and to order the Trust to pay Nagles an offset in the amount of \$32,550.

C. Nagles' Argument That The Trial Court Incorrectly Determined The Amount Of The Offset Because It Does Not Account For Appreciation Of The Property, Is Not Properly Before The Court And Is Contrary To Factual Findings Not Challenged By Nagles On Appeal

Nagles argue that the trial court incorrectly determined the amount of the offset, because it purportedly "in no way accounts for the appreciation of the property over time." (Aplnt. Br. 32). However, Nagles fail to properly identify this issue in their Statement of Issues, fail to delineate the applicable standard of appellate review with supporting authority and a citation to the record showing that this specific issue was preserved in the trial court, and fail to provide a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court, as required pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(A) and (B). (Aplnt Br. 1-9) Accordingly, the Court should decline review of this issue on appeal.

Additionally, Nagles' argument ignores the fact that although Nagle threatened Collard with legal action on January 13, 1981, he chose not to follow through and made a calculated decision to wait until Collard came to him. (Nagle Depo. 50: 3-12, Tr. Exh. 7; Counterclaim, ¶30-31 at 9-10, Tr. Exh. 4). Thus, the trial court did not abuse its

discretion in not awarding Nagles' an offset based on the "appreciation" of the property, because Nagles could have brought a claim for the property at the time of the purported breach, but chose not to do so. For the same reason, Nagles' argument that they are entitled to 8% prejudgment interest on the offset (Aplnt Br. 47), fails because Nagles made a calculated decision not to assert claims under the contract prior to the filing of this action.

D. Nagles' Argument That The Property Should Be Made Available To Satisfy The Payment Of The Offset Is Improperly Before The Court And The Court Should Decline Review

Nagles argue that "the subject property should be made available to satisfy any monetary judgment this Court may order because the current owner is in privity with the Trust." (Aplnt. Br. 33) However, Nagles fail to include this issue in their Statement of Issues For Review, and fail to provide the applicable standard of appellate review with supporting authority, or any citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court, or a statement of grounds for reviewing an issue not preserved in the trial court as required pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(A)(B). (Aplnt. Br. 1-9)

Accordingly, the Court should decline review of this issue.

POINT IV THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT COLLARD DELIVERED 105,000 SHARES OF STOCK TO NAGLES IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD

A. The Trial Court's Factual Finding That Collard Delivered 105,000 Shares of Stock To Nagles Is Reviewed For Clear Error

The trial court's factual finding that Collard delivered 105,000 shares of stock to Nagles is reviewed for clear error. Parduhn, supra, ¶24 "A trial court's findings are

"clearly erroneous" "if they are so lacking as to be against the clear weight of the evidence." Young v. Young, 1999 UT 38, ¶15, 979 P.2d 338 (Utah 1999).

B. Nagles' Challenge To The Trial Court's Finding That Collard Delivered 105,000 Shares of Stock To Nagles Is Improperly Briefed

Nagles' statement of four issues for review on this point (Aplnt. Br. 5-6), fails to comply with the requirements of Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(A)(B), in that Nagles fail to delineate for each issue, the appropriate standard of review with supporting authority; citation to the record to show that each issue was preserved in the trial court, and a statement of grounds for seeking review of each issue not preserved in the trial court. Accordingly, the Court should decline review of these issues.

C. The Mandate Rule Does Not Apply To The Trial Court's Factual Finding That Collard Delivered 105,000 Shares Of Stock To Nagles

Nagles cite several cases for the proposition that the mandate rule dictates that "pronouncements of an appellate court on legal issues in a case become the law of the case and must be followed in subsequent proceedings in that case." (Aplnt. Br. 34) (Emphasis supplied) Because the trial court's finding that Collard delivered 105,000 is not a "legal issue", but a finding of fact, the mandate rule does not apply.

Contrary to Nagles' argument (Aplnt. Br. 33-34), the lower court never made any findings concerning the stock Collard delivered to Nagles to pay the additional \$50,000 Collard agreed to pay under Addendum 2. The only lower court finding cited by Nagles states that, "On or prior to September 18, 1979, Collard tendered the 55,000 shares of stock to Nagle as required by *Installment 3* to the contract." (Findings of Fact, ¶7, R. 524, at 4, Add.6). (Emphasis supplied) Reference to a previous finding indicates that

Installment 3 refers to the delivery of 55,000 shares to pay the original balance of \$30,541.26 *under Addendum 1*. (Findings of Fact, ¶3(3), R. 524, at 3, Add. 6)

In regard to Addendum 2 to the parties' agreement, the lower court found that Collard was required to furnish additional cash or stock in the event the sale of the 55,000 shares provided under Addendum 1 was insufficient to pay the revised balance of \$85,000 under Addendum 2. (Findings of Fact, ¶10, R. 524, at 4, Add. 6) However, the lower court made no findings regarding the Collard's delivery of additional cash or stock under Addendum 2, or the amount or date thereof. (Findings of Fact, *Id.*, passim) Indeed, the matter was not at issue and the lower court had no reason to do so, given the fact that its grant of summary judgment to the Trust was based on its conclusion that Nagles' counterclaims were barred by the statute of limitations. (Conclusions Of Law, ¶¶1-15, R. 526-528. Thus, there is no factual basis for Nagles' argument that the trial court determined these issues prior to the first appeal, or that the Court of Appeals adopted this non-existent determination. (Aplnt. Br. 34-35)

Nagles also argue that the trial court's finding on remand that Collard delivered 105,000 shares of stock to Nagles on September 18, 1979, is based on "no new evidence." (Aplnt. Br. 33-36) This argument is directly contrary to the trial court's factual finding, not challenged by Nagles on appeal, that it based this finding "on testimony and examination of exhibits more than the affidavits and records involved in the case at the summary judgment stage." (Findings of Fact, ¶6, MD, Aplnt. Br. Add. C, R. 2491)

Because Nagles fail to marshal the evidence supporting this finding in order to challenge it, the Court should assume the finding is correct. Appellate courts will not

address a challenge to a trial court's factual finding unless the appellant has properly "marshaled the evidence." State v. Benvenuto, 1999 UT 60, ¶13, 983 P.2d 556.

Accordingly, Nagles' argument that the trial court's findings on these matters "is contrary to the law of the case", are unsupported and must be rejected.

D. Nagles' Argument That The Trial Court's Finding That Collard Delivered 105,000 Shares Of Stock Violates The Statute Of Frauds Because Such Finding Purportedly Amounts To A Finding That the Parties Modified Their Agreement, Is Inadequately Briefed

Nagles' argument on this point is improperly before the Court, because Nagles fail to specify this issue for review in their Statement of Issues (Aplnt. Br. 1-9), and fail to set forth the standard for review of the issue with supporting authority, and citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court, or a statement of grounds for review if it was not preserved in the trial court, as required pursuant to Utah R. App. 24(a)(5)(A)(B). Thus, the Court should decline review.

Alternatively and without waiving the foregoing argument, contrary to Nagles' argument (Aplnt Br. 36-37), there is no inconsistency between the parties' contract and addenda, and the trial court's factual findings that the 55,000 shares of stock required under Addendum 1 were not delivered immediately after the parties' contract was consummated, but were delivered together with an additional 50,000 shares conveyed under Addendum 2 to the parties' contract, for a total of 105,000 shares, some 18 months later on September 18, 1979. (Aplnt. Br. Add. A, R. 2416-2417)

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